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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

HAROLD WEISBERG, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 
Civil Action Nos. 
78-322 and 78-420 
(Consolidated) 

FEDERAL BUREAU OF 
INVESTIGATION, 

Defendant. _____________ .....,! 

DEFENDANT'S REPLY TO PLAINTIFF'S OPPOSITION 
TO DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO STRIKE AND TO HAVE 

ITS STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS DEEMED ADMITTED 

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On May 3, 1982, the defendant filed a motion for partial 

summary judgment on the question of the adequacy of its search 

with respect to plaintiff's FOIA requests for all records in the 

FBI's Dallas and New Orleans Field Offices pertaining to the 

assassination of President John F. Kennedy. On June 7, 1982, the 

plaintiff filed an opposition to that motion. In support of this 

opposition, plaintiff attached affidavits from himself and his 

attorney and a one sentence "statement of genune issue of material 

facts in dispute." Because the supporting papers of plaintiff 

failed to meet the requirements of Rule 56Cel of the Federal Rules 

of Civil Procedure, as well as Local Rule l-9Chl, the defendant 

moved, on June 17, 1982, to have the affidavits striken and to 

have its "statement of material facts not in dispute" deemed 

admitted. 

On July 23, 1982, plaintiff responded to the defendant's 

motion to strike (hereinafter "Pl. Resp."). In that response, 

plaintiff acknowledged that "the first part of his affidavit" of 

May 31, 1982, did not address the search issues raised by defend­

ant's motion for partial summary and thus he had "executed a new 

affidavit which focuses more exclusively on the search issue 

raised by defendant's motion for summary judgment." Pl. Resp. at 

3. This new affidavit was filed concurrently with plaintiff's 



opposition to defendant's motion to strike. Subsequently on July 

26, 1982, plaintiff filed an Amended Statement of Genuine Issues 

of Material Fact in Dispute which he claims moots defendant's 

motion to have its statement of material facts deemed admitted. 

The purpose of this memorandum is 'to reply to the assertions 

made by plaintiff in his opposition to the motion to strike and to 

address the fourteen issues of material fact which he now 

contends are in dispute in this case.!/ 

I I. ARGUMENT 

A. Since Plaintiff Has Failed To Specify 
Which Of the Defendant's Twenty-nine 
Material Facts He contends There Exists 
A Genuine Issue That Needs To Be Litigated, 
Those Facts Should Be Deemed Admitted. 

As noted in defendant's Memorandum in Support of its Motion 

to Strike and to Have Its Statement of Material Facts Deemed 

Admitted, this court has promulgated local requirements for 

summary judgment. Those requirements are set out in Local Rule 

l-9(h) which provides, in pertinent part, as follows: 

With each motion for summary judgment pursuant 
to Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil 
Procedure, there shall be served and filed ••• 
a statement of the material facts as to which 
the moving. party contends there is no genuine 
issue, and shall include therein references to 
the parts of the records relied on to support 
such statement. A party opposing such a motion 
shall serve and file, together with his 
opposing statement of points and authorities, a 
concise "statement of genuine issues" setting 
forth all material facts as to which it is 
contended there exists a genuine issue 
necessary to be litigated, and shall include 

1/ The defendant will not attempt to reply to the discursive 
claims made by plaintiff in his new affidavit. Inasmuch as the 
fourteen issues in plaintiff's Amended Statement of Genuine Issues 
of Material Fact in Dispute are keyed to those claims, a reply to 
this latest affidavit would only be redundant of defendant's 
response to plaintiff's amended statement of genuine issues. 
Defendant's approach is buttressed by Local Rule l-9Ch) which 
provides that a party's "'statment of genuine issues' [shall set] 
forth all material facts as to which it is contended there exists 
a genuine issue necessary to be litigated •••• " Thus, all that 
is required to join the search issue in this case is a point by 
point response to the fourteen issues of material fact which 
plaintiff claims need to be litigated. 
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therein references to the parts of the records 
relied on to support such statement. In 
determining a motion for summary judgment,~ 
court may assume that the facts as claimed by 
the moving party in his statement of material 
facts are admitted to exist except as and to 
the extent that such facts are controverted in 
a statement filed in opposition to the 
motion. 

(Emphasis added). 

Consistent with these dictates, this Court has held that the 

failure to file a proper Rule l-9Ch) statement may be fatal to the· 

position of the delinquent party. Piccolo v. Department of 

Justice, 90 F.R.D. 28?, 288 n.3 (D.D.C. 1981)7 Gillot v. WHATA, 

507 F. Supp. 454, 455 n.l CD.o.c. 1981). If the delinquent party 

is the one opposing the motion, the rule itself provides that a 

court may assume that the facts as claimed by the moving party in 

his statment of material facts are admitted. In essence, a moving 

party's statement of material facts "operates as the equivalent of 

a request for admissions." Fleischhaker v. Adams, 26 FEP cases 

1451, 1452 (D.D.C. 1978). Consequently, a failure to specify the 

moving party's material facts which require a trial for resolution 

results in those facs being deemed admitted. zerilli v. Smith, 

656 F.2d 705, 718 n.741 Piccolo, supra, 90 F.R.D. at 288 n.31 

Joseph v. Bond, 507 F. Supp. 453, 454 co.o.c. 1981). See also 

United States v. Trans-World Bank, 382 F. Supp. 1100, 1102 (C.D. 

Cal. 1974). 

In the instant case, the defendant supported its motion for 

partial summary judgment with a statement of 29 material facts as 

to which it contends there is no genuine issue. Each of those 29 

material facts were, in turn, supported by references to the parts 

of the record relied on. In opposing the defendant's motion, the 

plaintiff failed at first to set forth the material facts as to 

which he contends there is a genuine issue. When this failure was 

pointed out in defendant's motion to strike, plaintiff responded 

by filing an amended statement of genuine issues which lists 

fourteen facts he contends are in dispute. All of those fourteen 
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points, however, raise issues not encompassed in defendant's Rule 

l-9Chl statement. Indeed, plaintiff's amended statement of 

genuine issues does not attempt to controvert any of the 29 

material facts as to which the defendant contends there is no 

genuine issue. Accordingly, under Local Rule l-9Ch) and the 

judicial decisions interpreting it, defendant's 29 material facts 

should be deemed admitted. See,~, Crooker v. ~- 670 F.2d 

1051, 1054 n. 7 CD.C. Cir. 1981) C~ bane). 

B. The Fourteen Points Listed In Plaintiff's 
Amended Statement Of Genuine Issues Are Either 
Not In Dispute, Or Immaterial Or Unsupported 
By Significant Probative Evidence. 

Under Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, 

summary judgment is appropriate if a moving party can show that 

"no substantial and material facts are in dispute and that he is 

entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Perry v. ~, No. 

80-1487, slip op. at 9 CD.C. cir. July 30, 1982) (Exhibit B 

hereto); Founding Church of Scientology v. National Security 

Agency, 610 F.2d 824, 836 (D.C. Cir. 1979). When a party has 

properly supported a_summary judgment motion, the opposing party 

can not defeat the motion unless he comes forward with 

"significant probative evidence" demonstrating the existence of 

triable issues of material fact. Volyrakis v. M/V Isabelle, 668 

F.2d 863, 865 (5th Cir. 1982); Merit Motors v. Chrysler Corp., 417 

F. Supp. 263, 266 (D.D.C. 1976), aff'd 569 F.2d 666 (D.C. cir. 

1977). Under Local Rule l-9Ch) of this court, the non-moving 

party's vehicle for coming forward with such evidence is "a 

concise 'statement of genuine issues' setting forth all material 

facts as to which it is contended there exists a genuine issue" 

and referencing "the parts of the record relied on to support such 

statement." Should the non-moving party's statement raise issues 

of fact not encompassed in the movant's papers, the latter has an 

opportunity to show that those additional fact issues are either 
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not in dispute, immaterial or not genuine.~ ~ Gardels 

v. ~. 637 F.2d 770 CD.C. Cir. 1980), If the movant is 

successful in that regard, then he is entitled to summary 

judgment. 

As noted earlier in this brief, plaintiff's Amended statement 

of Genuine Issues of Material Fact in Dispute raises fourteen 

issues, all of which are not encompassed in defendant's Rule 

l-9Chl statement. However, as is pointed out seriatim, these 

additional issues are either not in dispute, not material or not 

supported by significant probative evidence. 

1. Whether the Dallas And New 
Orleans Field Offices maintain 
"ticklers." 

The first issue of material fact which plaintiff contends is 

in dispute is whether the FBI maintains "tickler" copies of the 

documents that are generated in the Dallas and New Orleans Field 

Offices. This issue was initially raised by plaintiff in his 

opposition to defendant's motion for partial summary judgment. In 

responding to that oppositiQn, the FBI, through Special Agent John 

N. Phillips, explained that!"ticklers" -- as that term is used to 

refer to potentially retrievable records -- are photostatic or 

carbon copies of documents that are prepared for the information 

and temporary use of individuals who need to follow the progress 

of a certain matter. Special Agent Phillips also stated, however, 

that most FBI field offices, including the Dallas and New 

Orleans Offices, do not produce or maintain "tickler" copies of 

documents.Y 

To refute those statements by Mr. Phillips, plaintiff 

produced a document released to him from the Dallas files (i.e., 

2/ A fact issue is immaterial when it does not affect the 
outcome of the litigation, whereas it lacks genuineness when it is 
not established by significant probative evidence. Hahn v. 
Sargent, 523 F.2d 461, 464 (1st Cir. 1975), cert. denied, 425 U.S. 
904 (1976). See also Merit Motors v. Chrysler Corp., supra, 417 
F.Supp. at 266°:- --

3/ see Fifth Declaration of John N. Phillips, 1 4, attached 
to Defendant's Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to Motion for 
Partial Summary Judgment, filed July 2, 1982. 
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Exhibit 2 attached to Harold Weisberg's affidavit of July 21, 

1982) ("Weisberg Affidavit") which bears the following notation: 

"Prepare a "six C6l months tickler for reopening." To plaintiff's 

mind, that notation demonstrates that the Dallas Field Office 

produces and maintains "tickler" copies of documents. 

In paragraph 2Ca) of his eighth declaration attached as 

Exhibit A to the instant reply, Special Agent Phillips succinctly 

explains that the context within which that notation appears 

indicates that the author of the memorandum was not requesting the 

production of a photostatic or carbon copy Ci.e., a tickler copy) 

of the document. Rather, the agent was directly a rotor clerk to 

prepare a 3 x 5 index card reminding him to reopen a file in six 

months in order to verify the address of a subject and her family. 

This card would then have been placed in a chronologically 

arranged system of other such cards which contained similar types 

of reminders. As each time period elapsed, the noted action on a 

card would be taken and the card itself thrown away. 

In light of that explanation, plaintiff's attempt to create a 

disputed issue on this point must fail. However, even if plain­

tiff were successful· in demonstrating that the Dallas Office 

produce and maintain "tickler" copies of documents, such fact 

issue would be immaterial to the outcome of defendant's motion for 

partial summary judgment. See White v. Hearst Corp., 669 F.2d 14, 

18 Clst Cir. 1982)~ Hahn v. Sargent, supra, 523 F.2d at 464. For 

the question to be reolved at this point in the litigation is "not 

whether any further documents might conceivably exist but rather 

whether the government's search for responsive documents was 

adequate." Perry v. Block, supra, slip op. at 14. In resolving 

that question, it must be remembered that an agency "is not 

required to reorganize its filing system _in response to each FOIA 

request~· instead it "is required only to make reasonable efforts 

to find responsive materials." Goland v. CIA, 607 F.2d 339, 370 

(1978). 
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Here, the FBI undertook a multi-tiered search for the records 

requested by plaintiff. It located and processed over 100,000 

pages of documents. To further expect the agency to search for 

carbon copies of those documents that were already processed in 

response to plaintiff's FOIA requests, is unreasonable.· And that 

unreasonableness is heightened by the fact that a search for 

responsive "ticklers" (again assuming their existence) would be 

virtually impossible since their maintenance varies among the 

employees who use them.!/ 

In sum, plaintiff has not come forward with any significant 

probative evidence that demonstrates the existence of a triable 

issue of material fact with respect to "ticklers." His effort to 

defeat defendant's motion for partial summary judgment by way of 

this point must thus be rejected. 

2. Whether the FBI searched 
for "ticklers." 

There is no disputed issue whether the FBI searched for 

"tickler" copies of documents in the Dallas and New Orleans Field 

Offices. The defendant acknowledges that it did not undertake a 

search for these non-existent records. 

3. Whether the FBI searched 
for "June files." 

In paragraph 2(cl of his eighth declaration attached as 

Exhibit A to this memorandum, Special Agent John Phillips explains 

that "June files" are what the FBI sometimes calls the files that 

encompass the electronic surveilance conducted by the Bureau. 

Special Agent Phillips also notes that these files -- consistent 

with the FBI's filing system -- are indexed accordingly to who or 

what entity was under surveilance, and thus information in "June 

4/ see Fifth Declaration of John N. Phillips, 1 4, attached to 
Defendant's Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to the Motion for 
Partial summary Judgment, filed on July 2, 19827 and Eighth 
Declaration of John N. Phillips, 1 2Cbl, attached to the instant 
reply. 
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files," like all other FBI files, is retrievable through a search 

of a field office's general indices • .21' Lastly, Special 

Agent Phillips states that the FBI utilized its general indices in 

these cases to identify material which was responsive to plain­

tiff's FOIA requests, and that if any material was located in a 

"June file," the file was searched and the releasable material 

pertinent to plaintiff's requests was furnished to him. 

Plaintiff has failed to put before the Court any evidence 

(much less any significant probative evidence) which would refute 

Special Agent Phillips' statements. Rather, he merely references 

paragraph 9 of his affidavit of July 21, 1982, which states as 

follows: "I note that in my March 4, 1979 appeal (Exhibit 3), I 

called attention to 'the existence of an undisclosed Dallas June 

file and noncompliance with regard to those records.,.§./ 

Exhibit 3, however, offers no further evidence or enlightenment on 

this subject for the pertinent part of that exhibit simply 

states: 

In this connection I also call to your 
attention the existence of an undisclosed 

5/ A detailed explanation of the FBI's filing system is set 
forth in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Fourth Declaration of John N. 
Phillips, attached to Defendant's Motion for Partial Summary 
Judgment, filed on May 3, 1982. 

6/ Throughout this litigation, plaintiff refers to his 
numerous "administrative appeals." Without doubt, plaintiff has, 
since the inception of this litigation, inundated the FBI and the 
Justice Department's Office of Privacy and Information Appeals 
COPIA) with mounds of paper in which he complains about various 
aspects of the Bureau's processing of his FOIA requests. Exhibit 
3 attached to Weisberg's Affidavit is typical of the discursive 
nature of these so called "appeals." Inasmuch as it was virtually 
impossible to decipher, much less respond to, all of plaintiff's 
"appeals," it was decided that those "appeals" would be subsumed 
into plaintiff's omnibus Dallas/New Orleans appeals which his 
counsel filed on June S, 1979. See Exhibit A(l) attached to 
defendant's Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to the Motion 
Concerning the Adjudication of Certain Exemption Claims, filed 
March 22, 1982 ("Defendant's Reply">. The decision on those 
appeals was rendered by former Associate Attorney Gneral John 
Shenefield on December 16, 1980. see Exhibit AC3) attached to 
Defendant's Reply. When plaintiff""continued to send complaints to 
OPIA about the FBI's processing of his requests, Mr. Quinlan Shea, 
OPIA's then director, unequivocally stated to plaintiff that his 
appeals had been ruled on and thus his recourse was "to the court 
in which [his] consolidated suits concerning these records are 
pending." See Exhibit AC4) attached to Defendant's Reply. 
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Dallas "June" file and non-compliance with 
regard to those records. While I have 
additional identifying information I do not 
now provide it for reasons stated in an 
enclosed appeal. 

In light of this dearth of evidence, plaintiff's claims about "the 

existence of an undisclosed Dallas 'June' file" must fail. 

4. Whether the FBI's search encompassed 
records concerning the allegations 
of Mr. William Walter. 

The FBI has now twice indicated that its search in these 

cases did locate records concerning the allegations of Mr. William 

Walter and that plaintiff was provided with those records which 

are not exempt under the FOIA.1/ Since plaintiff offers 

absolutely no proof for the assertion in paragraph 10 of his 

affidavit of July 21, 1982, that nonexempt documents concerning 

Mr. Walter remain withheld, this alleged issue of fact -- similar 

to the one about "June files" -- must be reject for lack of 

genuineness. See Hahn v. Sargent, supra, 523 F.2d at 464. 

5. Whether The FBI Searched For 
All Films And Tapes. 

Special Agent John Phillips has stated several times in these 

cases that plaintiff.has been furnished all releasable films and 

tapes in the Dallas and New Orleans Field offices which pertain to 

the Kennedy assassination,!/ Plaintiff claims that there 

7/ See Fourth Declaration of John N. Phillips, 1 18(e), attached 
to Defendant's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, filed on May 
3, 1982: and Eighth Declaration of John N. Phillips, 1 2Cd), 
attached as Exhibit A to the instant reply. 

8/ See Second Declaration of John N. Phillips, 1 5, attached 
to Defendant's Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to Motion 
Concerning the Adudication of Certain Exemption Claims, filed on 
March 22, 1982: Third Declaration of John N. Phillips, 1 3Cg>, 
attached to Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Settlement 
Proposals, filed on April 15, 1982: Fourth Declaration of John N. 
Phillips, 11 20 and 24, attached to Defendant's Motion for Partial 
Summary Judgment, filed on May 3, 1982: Fifth Declaration of John 
N. Phillips, 1 5, attached to Defendant's Reply to Plaintiff's 
Opposition, to the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, filed on 
July 2, 1982: and Seventh Declaration of John N. Phillips, 1 3, 
attached to Defendant's Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for ·order 
Compelling Photographic Copies of All Movie Films and Still 
Photographs in the FBI's Dallas and New Orleans Field Offices, 
filed on August 19, 1982. 
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are additional films and tapes which have not been processed. 

Only recently, however, has plaintiff specified the materials that 

he believes have been wrongfully withheld: that is, the "Thomas 

Alyea film" and the tape of the recorded Dallas police radio 

broadcasts. In his eighth declaration attached as Exhibit A to 

this reply, Special Agent Phillips demonstrates that plaintiff's 

claims about these two matters are without foundation. 

First, Mr. Phillips reiterates an earlier statement.21 

that some films and tapes pertaining to the JFK assasination were 

sent to FBIHQ during the investigation and thus are involved in 

the pending administrative appeal of plaintiff's separate FOIA 

request for FBIHQ material. One of those films was the "Thomas 

Alyea film." Accordingly, that film is not within the scope of 

plaintiff's FOIA requests in these cases. 

Second, Mr. Phillips states that a tape of the recorded 

Dallas police radio broadcasts was made by an FBI official for use 

by the Warren commission. A copy of that tape, however, was not 

maintained by the Bureau in its files on the assasination. Thus, 

there are no tapes of police radio broadcasts in either the Dallas 

or New Orleans Field·Offices. 

Given these statements by Special Agent Phillips and the lack 

of any credible evidence by plaintiff demonstrating otherwise, Mr. 

Weisberg's claims concerning additional tapes and films must be 

dismissed as yet another one of his red herrings. 

6. Whether the FBI searched for 
all records on organizations 
and persons who figured in the 
Kennedy assasination investi­
gation, including Clay Shaw, 
David Ferrie and Jim Garrison. 

Special Agent Phillips has described in great detail the 

multi-tiered search that the FBI undertook to find records 

9/ see Third Declaration of John N. Phillips, 1 3Cgl, attached 
to Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Settlement Proposals, filed 
on April 15, 1982. 
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responsive to plaintiffs FOIA requests.lo/ All documents 

that were located as a result of that search -- including records 

on organizations and persons who figured in the Bureau's investi­

gation (as far as those records related to that investigation) 

were processed and, if nonexempt, were released to plaintiff. 

With respect to plaintiff's request for records on David Ferrie, 

Clay Shaw and Jim Garrison's investigation, Mr. Phillips has 

stated that the FBI could find no main files or material on those 

subjects other than what was merged into the main files on the 

Bureaus's investigation of the assassination. Those files, in 

turn, were included in the files that were processed in response 
11/ to plaintiff's requests.~ 

Plaintiff does not attempt to refute these statements by 

Special Agent Phillips. Rather, he now comes up with a 

non-inclusive list of eleven organizations and persons whose names 

appeared in those Kennedy documents which pertained in some 

fashion to Mr. Garrison or his investigation, and claims that the 

FBI should have undertaken searches on these individuals and 
' organizations. The defendatjt acknowledges that it did not 

undertake independent searches on the persons and organizations 

listed by plaintiff. It is the defendant's position that it was 

and is not legally required under the FOIA to do so. That 

position was well framed by Mr. Quinlan Shea, former director of 

the Justice Department's Office of Privacy afiormation 

Appeals, when he stated to plaintiff's counsel that the FOIA does 

not contemplate "an open-ending process of search, locate, review 

10/ See Fourth Declaration of John N. Phillips, attached to 
Defendant's Motion for Partial summary Judgment, filed on May 3, 
1982. 

11/ See Fifth Declaration of John N. Phillips, !6, attached to 
Defendant's Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to the Motion for 
Partial summary Judgment, filed on July 2, 1982; Eighth Declara­
tion of John N. Phillips, !2(f), attached to the instant 
reply. 
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and then search again based on what is contained in the reviewed 

records. 11121 

In sum, there is no factual dispute that the FBI's search in 

these cases did encompass records on the organizations and persons 

who figured in the Bureau's investigation of the JFK 

assassination, as well as records on Clay Shaw, David Ferrie and 

Jim Garrison's investigation. Nor is there any dispute that the 

FBI did ~ undertake new sear.ches on the eleven persons or 

organizations listed by plaintiff or any other organizations or 

persons whose named appeared in the documents relating to Jim 

Garrison or his investigation. Instead, the dispute between the 

parties on this point is a legal one: that is, whether the FBI 

was required under the FOIA to conduct independent searches on any 

organizations or persons who appeared, based on the contents of 

the Kennedy records which were processed by the Bureau, to have 

been involved in Jim Garrison's investigation of the 

assassination. 

7. Whether the FBI searched for files on "critics" 
or "criticism" of its assassination investigation 

Similar t~ the previous point raised by plaintiff in his 

amended statement of genuine issues, there is no factual dispute 

about whether the FBI searched for files on "critics" or 

"criticism" of its investigation of the murder of President 

Kennedy. Rather, the dispute concerns whether the FBI should have 

searched for the names of 31 individuals first specified by 

plaintiff in his "settlement proposal" filed with the Court on 

April 5, 1982. 

12/ Letter of June 16, 1980, from Quinlan J. Shea to James H. 
Lesar, attached as Exhibit AC2) to Defendant's Reply to 
Plaintiff's Opposition to the Motion Concerning the Adjudication 
of Certain Exemption Claims, filed on March 22, 1982. 
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As has been cogently explained by Special Agent John 

Phillips, it is the FBI's position that the agency agreed, 

pursuant to the discretion exercised by former Associtae Attorney 

General John Shenefield in his decision of December 16, 1980, to 

undertake a search on the topics of "critics" or "criticism" of 
. t . . . 13/ . . is investigation.- It did not commit itself to conduct 

searches on the names of individuals who at the time were 

unspecified. At no time did the Associate Attorney General or his 

staff in OPIA indicate otherwise. If indeed the Associate 

Attorney General wanted the FBI to search for records on specific 

individuals who were critical of the assassination investigation, 

it seems apparent that he would have listed their names the same 

way he, in that same decision of December 16, 1980, enumerated the 

names of several individuals on whom he agreed new searches would 
14/ 

be conducted.-

a. Whether the FBI searched for records 
referenced in Exhibit 4 attached to 
Weisberg's Affidavit. 

The defendant assumes that plaintiff, by this issue, is 

attempting to dispute whether the FBI undertook a search for the 

"Raymond Comstoqk" documents. But again, there is no dispute. 

The FBI acknowledges that it did not conduct an independent search 

for those documents since they did not fall within plaintiff's 

requests. As noted above, it is the defendant's position that an 

agency is not required under the FOIA to make additional searches 

based on what is contained in the records located and process in 

response to a FOIA request. As noted as Special Agent Phillips, 

if plaintiff desires the alleged "Comstock" records, he can file a 

new FOIA request and pay the fees associated with the search for 

13/ See Third Declaration of John N. Phillips, 1 3Cfl, attached 
to Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Settlement Proposal, filed 
on April 15, 1982~ Eight Declaration of John N. Phillips, ! 2(gl, 
attached to this reply. 

14/ See page 3 of Associate Attorney General Shenefield's 
decision of December 16, 1980, which is attached as Exhibit AC3l 
to Defendant's Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to the Motion 
Concerning the Adjudication of Certain Exemption Claims, filed on 
March 22, 1982. 
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15/ 
that material.-

9. Whether the FBI searched for the 
record quoted in Exhibit 6 attached 
to Weisberg's Affidavit. 

Although the defendant is not certain which record plaintiff 

is referring to, there is no disputed issue raised by this point. 

Inasmuch as none of the records referenced in Exhibit 6 of 

Weisberg's Affidavit fall within plaintiff's FOIA requests in 

these cases, the FBI did not undertake an independent search for 

those records. 

10. Whether the FBI searched for records 
on Carlos Marcello. 

Once again plaintiff raises an issue which is not in dispute. 

Since plaintiff's FOIA requests did not specify Carlos Marcello as 

someone on whom he wanted records, the FBI did not make an 

independent search for material on Mr. Marcello. 

11. Whether the FBI searched for records 
on former Special Agent James P. Hosty. 

Special Agent John N. Phillips has indicated before in these 

cases that, pursuant to Associate Attorney General Shenefield's 

decision of December 16, 1980, the FBI conducted indices searches 

in the Dallas Field Office to locate material on James P. 
16/ 

Hosty.- No main files on Mr. Hosty were located; 

however, there was a general personnel matters file (67-425) 

containing documents on Mr. Hosty pertaining to the JFK 

assassination that were processed and the releasable material 

furnished to plaintiff. 

Special Agent Phillips has also noted that there is a "67" 

personnel file in FBIHQ on every FBI employee, including Mr. 

Hosty. Because67" FBIHQ file on Mr. Hosty was not within 

the scope of plaintiff's FOIA requests in these cases, it was not 

processed. At best, that file would be within the scope of 

15/ See Eighth Declaration of John N. Phillips, !2(h), attached 
to the instant reply. 

16/ See Second Declaration of John N, Phillips, 14, attached 
to Defendant's Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to Motion 
concerning the Adjudication of Certain Exemption Claims, filed on 
March 22, 1982; and Third Declaration of John N. Phillips, !3Cc>, 
attached to Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Settlement 
Proposals, filed on April 5, 1982. See also Eighth Declaration of 
John N. Phillips, 12Ck), attached to the""°Tiistant reply brief. 
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plaintiff's separate FOIA request for FBIHQ documents, the 

administrative appeal of which is pending with the Justice 

Department Office of Information and Privacy. 

There is nothing in plaintiff's sul::missions that disputes 

these statements by Special Agent Phillips. Indeed, even Mr. 

Weisberg admits in paragraph 35 of his affidavit of July 21, 1982, 

that the "Hosty records" he presently desires are contained in the 

FBIHQ files. 

12. Whether the FBI searched for records 
on Mrs. Marguerite Oswald. 

The FBI acknowledges that it did not conduct an independent 

search for records on Mrs. Marguerite Oswald, mother of Lee Harvey 

Oswald. Plaintiff's FOIA request in these cases did not specify 

her as someone on whom he wanted records. Nor did Associate 

Attorney General Shenefield direct the FBI, as a matter of agency 

discretion, to conduct a search for material pertaining to Mrs. 

Oswald. There is thus no disputed issue of fact concerning this 

point raised by plaintiff. 

13. Whether the FBI has searched SAC 
confidential files and safes. 

As noted by Special Agent Phillips in his attached eighth 

declaration, the FBI is unsure what plaintiff is referring to when 

he talks about SAC (i.e., Special Agent in Charge) confidential 

files. It can only be assumed that he is referring to materials 

on highly sensitive investigations and personnel matters which are 

maintained, for security purposes, in the SAC's office 
17/ 

safes.-

With respect to those safes, Mr. Phillips stated that the 

FBI's search in these cases included an inspection of the SAC 

safes in both the Dallas and New Orleans Field Offices. Any 

records that were located therein which pertained to the JFK 

assassination or which were responsive to the Associate Attorney 

General decision of December 16, 1980, were processed and, if 

nonexempt, were provided to plaintiff. 

17/ see Eighth Declaration of John N. Phillips, !2Cm), attached 
to this memorandum. 
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Plaintiff has put no significant probative evidence that 

supports his claim that the FBI failed to search for records in 

the SAC's safes. Accordingly, this alleged issue of fact must be 

dismissed for lack of genuineness. See Hahn v. Sargent, supra, 

523 F.2d at 464. 

14. Whether all records identified on 
"see" references have been provided 
by the FBI. 

The FBI has indicated several times in these cases that all 

releasable information pertinent to plaintiff's FOIA requests was 
'd , 18/ prov1 ed to him.~ This included records identified by 

way of "see" references. Furthermore, as Special Agent Phillips 

stated in paragraphs 21 and 24 of his fourth declaration, 

plaintiff was provided (by agreement of the FBI) with copies of 

all the indices search slips prepared by the Dallas and New 

Orleans Field Offices. Plaintiff thus has the capability for 

determining what files -- including those identified by way of 

"see" references -- were searched and processed by the FBI in 

these cases. Nothwithstanding that capability, plaintiff has not 

come forward with one shred of evidence which demonstrates that 

the FBI failed to process all the Kennedy assassination records 

identified by way of "see" references. Rather, he attempts, in 

typical fashion, to create a triable issue of material fact by 

resort to "gossamer threads of whimsy, speculation and 

conjecture." Manganaro v. Delaval, 309 F.2d 389, 393 Clst Cir. 

1962). Such is clearly not sufficient under Rule 56. 

Accordingly, plaintiff's claims about the nonprocessing of "see" 

reference records must be dismissed as a non-genuine issue. 

c. Plaintiff's Affidavits Opposing 
Defendant's Motion for Partial 
Summary Judgment, Including His 
Latest Affidavit, Do Not Meet the 
Requirements of Rule 56Ce) And 
Thus should be Striken. 

As noted in the previous section of this memorandum, Rule 56 

of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provides that a party who 

wishes to oppose a motion for summary judgment on factual grounds 

18/ see,~, Fifth Declaration of John N. Phillips, 13, 
attached to Defendant's Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to the 
Motion for Partial summary Judgment, filed on July 2, 1982. 
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the existence of an issue ot 1n~l~'i\~.\ :;.~~--

non-moving party's affidavits must, under the dictates of Rule 

56Cel, 

be made on personal knowledge, shall set 
forth such facts as would be admissible in 
evidence, and shall show affirmatively that 
the affiant is competent to testify to 
the matters stated therein. 

Courts have applied those requirements strictly and thus have held 

that any affidavits submitted under this rule must only "contain 

evidentiary matter which, if the affiant were in court and 

testified on the witness stand, would be admissible as part of his 

testimony." American Security Co. v. Hamilton Glass, 254 F.2d 

889, 893 (7th Cir. 1958). See also Union Insurance Society v. 

William Gluckin & co., 353 F.2d 946, 952 (2d cir. 1965)1 Jameson 

v. Jameson, 176 F.2d 58, 60 (D.C. Cir. 1949). 

In its previous memorandum filed in support of its motion to 

strike, the defendant argued that the two affidavits sul:xnitted by 

plaintiff in support of his opposition to the motion for partial 

summary (i.e., Affidavit of ~arold Weisberg, dated May 31, 19821 

and, Affidavit of James H. Lesar, dated June 3, 1982), failed to 

meet the requirements of Rule 56(el. Specifically, with respect 

to Mr. Lesar's affidavit, the defendant contended that the first 

four paragraphs amounted to argument of counsel and not admissible 

facts, whereas the last five paragraphs consisted of statements 

totally irrelevant to whether the FBI's search in these cases was 

adequate. Whereas, with respect to Mr. Weisberg's affidavit, the 

defendant demonstrated that it was a rambling 97 page, 364 

paragraph recitation of hearsay, innuendo, speculation, conclusory 

language, and irrelevant and unsubstantiated statements. While 

the defendant did not attempt to list each and every inadmissible 

matter, it did point out numerous instances which were merely 

representative of the evidentiary deficiencies in that affidavit. 

Because of these shortcomings in plaintiff's affidavits, the 

defendant argued that the Court should adhere to its decision in 

Government of the Republic of China v. Compass Communications, 473 

F.Supp. 1306 (D.D.C. 1979), and strike both documents. 
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In opposing the motion to strike, plaintiff does not take 

issue with any of the arguments advanced by the defendant with 

respect to Mr. Lesar's affidavit. Such silence can only be viewed 

as an acknowledgement that Mr. Lesar's affidavit indeed does not 

meet the requirements of Rule 56(el. Accordingly, that affidavit 

should be striken. 

As to his own affidavit, plaintiff argues that the court 

should strike only those parts which are inadmissible. He does 

not specify, however, those parts which he acknowledges as being 

inadmissible. Rather, he first appears to argue that under the 

Federal Rules of Evidence he, as a self-proclaimed expert on the 

Kennedy assassination, can state opinions based on hearsay and 

speculation. Having put forth this premise concerning opinions of 

experts, plaintiff then concedes that the first part of his 

affidavit did not address the defendant's motion for partial 

summary judgment. To cure this defect, plaintiff indicates that 

he has "executed a new affidavit which focuses more exclusively on 

the search issue." Pl. Resp. at 3. 

Even assuming that plaintiff's arguments about expert opinion 
19/ 

testimony are correct; which they are not,~ plaintiff's 

affidavits still do not meet the requirements of Rule 56(e). As 

plaintiff acknowledges, most of his first affidavit is completely 

irrelevant to the search issue. The parts that do address the 

adequacy of the search are replete with improper recitations of 

the intent or state of mind of other persons,~ Maiorana v. 

McDonald, 596 F.2d 1072, 1080 (1st Cir. 1980), or are based on 

unsubstantiated conclusions. Even experts (and that is not to say 

plaintiff is one by any stretch of the imagination) must state the 

basis upon which they form their opinions. See,~, Zenith 

Radio corp. v. Matsushita Electric Industrial Co., 505 F.Supp. 

1313, 1321-30 (E.D. Pa. 1980). 

These same principles also undercut the viability of 

plaintiff's second affidavit for that document is likewise replete 

19/ see,~, Merit Mortors Corp. v. Chrysler Corp., 569 F.2d 
666, 672-73 (D.C. Cir. 1977); Ward v. Brown, 301 F.2d 445, 447 
(10th cir. 1962); Griffin v. Ensign, 234 F.2d 307, 315 (3rd Cir. 
1956). 
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with inadmissible hearsay, conclusory language, specualtion and 

unsubstantiated statements. In sum, plaintiff's second affidavit, 

56 (e). 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above and in defendant's previous 

memoranda, the defendant's motion for partial summary judgment, as 

well as its motions to strike and to have its statement of 

material facts deemed admitted, should be granted. 

Respectfully submitted, 

J. PAUL McGRATH 
Assistant Attorney General 
Civil Division 

STANLEY S. HARRIS 
United states Attorney 

~LL£Ltl/ BBARA L. GORDON I 

Attorneys, Civil Division 
Room 3338 
Department of Justice 
10th & Pennsylvania Ave., N.W. 
Washington, D. c. 20530 
Telephone: (202) 633-4345 

Attorneys for Defendants. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

HAROLD WEISBERG, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

FEDERAL BUREAU OF 
INVESTIGATION, et al., 

Defendants • 

_______________ ! 

Civil Action Nos. 
78-322 and 78-420 

(Consolidated l 

EIGHTH DECLARATION OF JOHN N. PHILLIPS 

I, John N. Phillips, make the following declaration: 

1. I am a Special Agent of the Federal Bureau of Investiga­

tion (FBii, assigned in a supervisory capacity to the Freedom of 

Information-Privacy Acts CFOIPAl Section, Records Management 

Division, FBI Headquarters CFBIHQl, Washington, D.C. As I have 

indicated in the seven previous declarations that were filed in 

these consolidated cases, I am familiar, due to the nature of my 

official duties, with the procedures followed in processing 

Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) requests received by the FBI, 

including plaintiff's requests for records on the assassination of 

President John F. Kennedy (JFK assassination) contained in the 

FBI's Dallas and New Orleans Field Offices. 

2. Government counsel asked that I read Plaintiff's Amended 

Statement of Genuine Issues of Material Fact in Dispute. Having 

read that pleading, I make the following statement~ in response to 

the fourteen issues of fact which plaintiff claims are in dispute 

in these cases. 

(al Whether the Dallas and New Orleans Field Offices 

maintain "ticklers." 

In paragraph 4 of my fifth declaration filed on July 2, 1982, 

in support of the Defendant's Reply to the Plaintiff's Opposition 

to the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, 'I explained that 

I 

"ticklers" -- as that term is used to refer ~o potentia_~ly )'1/tj.,~J,, 

r.z!:r~vi!.2.!.e· re~!!,, -- are photostatic or ca,;!Pn copies of ~~~-
documents and that these copies are prepared for the information ,().A'~i 
and temporary use of individuals who need to follow the progress 



"L. tuVi it,¥{-
/(i./ of a certain matter. I also stated that not all FBI divisions 

!, kN' f":'\1 ' ' n ' k w·· ,yJ \{, ma1nta1n tic lers" and that indeed most FBI field offices, 

-'~11W'\ 
u\ VV".iJ'W 

including the Dallas and New Orleans Offices, do not produce or 

~~ I 
/tLl\. ,,l 

maintain these types of records. 

In response to those statements, plaintiff produced a docu-I I ~l;V A~~r,uA ment (i.e., Exhibit 2 attached to Harold Weisberg's affidavit of 

~iv('"y/V' July 21, 1982) C "Weisberg Affidavit"), which he claims 

~~~~:~ demonstrates that the Dallas Field Office does produce and 

~\'<;/(,,t~v maintain ticklers. That document indicates that a file on Marina 

J/1,' ~ ,;\ ,.v Nikolaevna Porter was being closed on March 6, 1978, but that the 

~~~~,~11 
~l~l} ,, ( 

'{ A 
~\ 
~~ 

agent wanted to reopen the case in six months "for verification of 

the address of subject and family." To remind him of the 

reopening, the agent directed a rotor clerk, per a notation at the 

end of the memorandum, to prepare a "six (6) months tickler for 

reopening." 

In this context, it is clear that the agent was not request-
{WY' 

""w. 1.f? 
l1v1J IJ ~~ ~!i~ ing the production of a photostatic or carbon copy (i.e., a 

~\'".fl "tickler" copy) of the memorandum in question. He was instead 
f. t("' 
~/J~t 
. \}i \ .L J1vv 

directing a clerk to prepare a 3 x 5 card indicating the action 

that was to be taken six months hence • This card, in turn, would 

have been placed in a chronologically arranged system of other 

such cards which contained similar types of reminders. As each 

time period elapsed, the noted action would be taken and the 

"tickler" card would be thrown away. 

Exhibit 2 attached to Weisberg's Affidavit thus does not 

refute the statement in paragraph 4 of my fifth declaration that 

most FBI field offices, including the Dallas and New Orleans 

Offices, do not produce or maintain "tickler" copies of the 

documents that they generate. Rather, it merely demonstrates that 

FBI agents often utilize an informal card system to remind them of 

certain actions that should be taken in the future. 
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(bl Whether the FBI searched for "ticklers." 

In paragraph 4 of my fifth declaration, I stated that, 

because the Dallas and New Orleans Field offices did not produce 

or maintain "tickler" copies of documents, the FBI did not 

undertake a search for such records. I also explained that even 

if those field offices had maintained "tickler" copies, it would 

have been virtually impossible to search for the ones responsive 

to plaintiff's FOIA requests inasmuch as their maintenance varies 

, among the employees who use them. Moreover, I noted that it would 
,w'-
f' :t I have been a duplication of effort to search for "ticklers" (again 

~'W"~ assuming their existence) since they would have been merely carbon 

~~~ / copies of documents that were already processed in response to 

~ _,,~ plaintiff's requests • 
• ~~VV ~,JI\· 

V
~:~~~ (cl Whether the FBI searched "June files." 

f\ "June files" are what the FBI sometimes calls the files that 

\ 

encompasses the electronic surveillance conducted by a field 

office. These files, consistent with the FBI's filing 

*/ . d d' . . system,- are in ex accor ing to who or what organization or 

\

company was under surveillance. Information in the "June files," 

like all other FBI ~iles, is thus retrievable through a search of 

a field office's general indices. 

In the instant cases, the FBI utilized its general indices to 

identify material responsive to plaintiff's FOIA requests. If any 

of that material was located in a "June file," that file was 

searched and the releasable material pertinent to plaintiff's 

requests was furnished to him. However, not all of the "June 

files" in the Dallas and New Orleans Field Offices were searched 

for, as can be readily imagined, most of them have absolutely 

nothing to do with the JFK assassination. 

*/ For a detailed explanation of the FBI's filing system, see 
paragraphs 3 and 4 of my fourth declaration attached to 
Defendant's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, filed on May 3, 
1982. 
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\ lli 

Cd) Whether the FBI searched for records referenced in 

a Dallas memorandum dated October 23, 1975, attached as Exhibit 11 

to Weisberg's Affidavit. 

As I indicated in paragraph 18(e) of my fourth declaration 

attached to Defendant's Motion for Partial Summary, filed on 

May 3, 1982, the FBI's search in these cases did locate records 

concerning the allegations of Mr. William Walter. By letter dated 

May 15, 1981, plaintiff was provided with the records pertaining 

to Mr. Walter's allegations that had not been previously processed 

in the FBIHQ files • .:/ 

(el Whether the FBI searched for all films and tapes. 

As I have stated several times in these cases,**/ 

has been furnished all releasable films and tapes G the 

Dallas and New Orleans Field Offices which pertain to the JFK 

assassination. Furthermore, as I indicated in paragraph 3(g) of 

my third declaration, some tapes and films (this includes the 

"Thomas Alyea film") were sent to FBIHQ during the invest~n .... MIi __.........- ~ .... -, 
~ thus are -~~vo _ve~--~~- the pe~d~~~~ad~i.~~.~J;r~i~~,E!-~ of hM "/1'14 ---. ... ,. .. _, ... 

plaintiff's separate FOIA request for FBIHQ material. Lastly, 
J 

there are no tapes of "the recorded police radio broadcasts" in 

either the Dallas or New Orleans Field Offices.***/ 

~/ Most of the records surrounding Mr. Walter's allegations were 
previously processed pursuant to a separate FOIA request by 
plaintiff. That processing of the FBIHQ Kennedy files was 
explained in paragraph 6 of my second declaration attached to 
Defendant's Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to the Motion 
Concerning the Adjudication of Certain Exemption Claims, filed on 
March 22, 1982. 

**/ See Second Declaration of John N. Phillips, 1 5, attached to 
Defendant's Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to the Motion 
Concerning the Adjudication of Certain Exemption Claims, filed on 
March 22, 1982; Third Declaration of John N. Phillips, 1 3(gl, 
attached to Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Settlement 
Proposal, filed on April 15, 1982; Fourth Declaration of John N. 
Phillips, 11 20 and 24, attached to Defendant's Motion for Partial 
Summary Judgment, filed on May j:t 1982; Fifth Declaration of John 
N. Phillips, 1 5, attached to Defendant's Reply to Plaintiff's 
Opposition to the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, filed on 
July 2, 1982; and Seventh Declaration of John N. Phillips, 1 3, 
attached to Defendant's Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Order 
compelling Photographic copies of All Movie Films and Still 
Photographs in the FBI's Dallas and New Orleans Field Offices, 
filed on August 19, 1982. 

I ***/ It should be noted that a tape of the recorded Dallas police 
radio broadcasts was made by an FBI official for use by the Warren 
commission. However, a copy of that tape was not maintained by 
the Bureau in its files on the assassination. 
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(fl Whether the FBI searched for all records 

"pertaining to persons and organizations who figured in the 

investigation of President Kennedy's murder," as well as for New 

Orleans records "pertaining to Clay Shaw, David Ferrie and any 

other person or organization who figured in District Attorney Jim 

Garrison's investigation into President Kennedy's assassination." 

As I spelled out in great detail in my fourth declaration and 

reiterated in paragraph 6 of my fifth declaration, all records on 

or pertaining to organizations or persons who figured in the FBI's 

investigation of the Kennedy assassination -- as far as those 

records related to that investigation -- were processed and, where 

appropriate, released to plaintiff. With respect to New Orleans 

records on David Ferrie, Clay Shaw or Jim Garrison's investiga­

tion, the FBI could find no main files or material on those 

subjects other than what was merged into the main files on the 

Bureau's investigation of the assassination. Those files, in 

turn, were processed and the nonexempt material was furnished to 

plaintiff. 

As I indicated in my fifth declaration, the FBI was not 

involved in or connected with Mr. Garrison's investigation of the 

JFK assassination and thus maintained no main files on his 

investigation. Rather, as I explained above, any information or 

documents concerning Mr. Garrison's investigation was channelled 

into the New Orleans main files on the assassination. Not­

withstanding this fact, plaintiff apparently believes that the FBI 

should have reviewed the documents in its Kennedy files which 

pertained to Mr. Garrison's investigation and then conducted new 

searches on the organizations and persons whose names appeared in 

those documents. According to plaintiff's counsel, those persons 

and organizations "include[d] but [are] are not limited to the 

following: the Free Cuba Committee, Double Check, Alpha 66, DRE, 

JURE, MNR, Sylvia Odio, Carlos Bringuier,~ Dean 

Andrews, and Perry Russo.• 

! 

The FBI acknowledges that it did not undertake new and 

independent searches on the organizations and persons whose 

names appeared in those Kennedy records which pertained in some 
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fashion to Jim Garrison or his investigation. The FBI believes 

that it was and is not required under the FOIA to do so. As 

Mr. Quinlan Shea, the former director of the Justice Department's 

Office of Privacy and Information and Appeals (OPIA), indicated to 

)

plaintiff's counsel, the FOIA does not contemplate "an open-ended, 

never-ending process of search, locate, review and then search 

again based on what is contained in the reviewed 

records."~ This is precisely what plaintiff desires of 

the FBI in this case. If plaintiff wants a search conducted for 

records on the above detailed persons and organizations, he can 

file new FOIA requests with the agency and pay for any search and 

copying fees associated with the search for that material. 

Cg) Whether the FBI searched for files on "critics" or 

"criticism" of its assassination investigation. 

In passing on plaintiff's administrative appeals in these 

cases, former Associate Attorney General John Shenefield decided 

that, "as a matter of agency discretion, the Bureau ,!!.:l conduct 

all-reference searches on George DeMohrenshildt and former Special 

Agent James P. Hasty, and will also attempt to determine whether 

there are !!!Y ol!!!; ·official or unofficial administrative files 

which pertain to the Kennedy case, with particular emphasis on 

seeking files on 'critics' or 'criticism' of the FBI's 

**I assassination investigation."~ Per this directive, the 

FBI conducted a search for files on "critics" or "criticism" of 

its investigation. It did not attempt, however, to search for 

names of unspecified individuals. At no time did the Associate 

Attorney General or his staff in OPIA indicate to the FBI that it 

should search for records on any individuals, including those 

*/ Letter of June 16, 1980, from Quinlan J. Shea to James H. 
Lesar, attached as Exhibit A(2) to Defendant's Reply to 
Plaintiff's Oppostion to the Motion Concerning the Adjudication of 
certain Exemption Claims, filed on March 22, 1982. 

**/ See page 3 of Associate Attorney General Shenefield's 
decision of December 16, 1980, which is attached as Exhibit A(3l 
to Defendant's Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to the Motion 
Concerning the Adjudication of Certain Exemption Claims, filed on 
March 22, 1982. 

- 6 -

----~--------- ,,v,::c<::- .. .;_._.,. . -.- . 
. - ~-;;;;· ... -. - . ,,: . . . . ·,:,.,.. _--, -



listed by plaintiff in his Amended Statement of Genuine Issues of 

Material Fact in Dispute. Rather, by putting the words critics 

and criticism in quotes, it seems clear that former Associate 

Attorney General Shenefield meant that those were the topics for 

which the FBI was to search. This conclusion is buttressed by the 

fact that in the same paragraph of his decision Mr. Shenefield 

specifically listed the names of several individuals on whom he 

wanted new searches conducted. Thus, if the Associate Attorney 

General wanted the FBI to search for records on specific 

individuals who were critical of the assassination investigation, 

it seems apparent that he would have listed their names in his 

decision. 

(h) Whether the FBI searched for records referenced in 

Exhibit 4 attached to Weisberg's Affidavit. 

r1 

Apparently, by this question, plaintiff is asking whether the 

FBI searched for the documents which Raymond Comstock provided to 

Special Agent Regis L. Kennedy. The answer is no. Inasmuch as 

these documents per se do not fall within plaintiff's FOIA 

requests in these cases, the FBI did not conduct an independent 

search for the mate~ial. As explained in paragraph 2(f) above, 

the FBI does not believe that the FOIA requires an agency to make 

additional searches based on what is contained in the records 

located as a result of the search conducted in response to a FOIA 

I 
request. If plaintiff desires the "Comstock" records, he can file 

a new FOIA request and pay the fees associated with the search for 

that material. 

(i) Whether the FBI searched for the record quoted in 

Exhibit 6 attached to Weisberg's Affidavit. 

Although it is uncertain which record in Exhibit 6 plaintifff 

is referring to, the FBI acknowledges that it did not conduct an 

independent search for any of the records referenced in Exhibit 6 

of weisberg's Affidavit. Again, the reason is that none of those 

records per se fall within plaintiff's FOIA requests in these 

cases. 
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Cj) Whether the FBI searched for records on Carlos 

Marcello. 

Inasmuch as plaintiff's FOIA requests did not specify Mr. 

Marcello as someone on whom he wanted records, the FBI did not 

conduct an independent search for material on Mr. Marcello. 

Ck) Whether the FBI searched for records on former 

Special Agent James P. Hosty. 

As I have stated before in these cases,~/ indices ·~t~'i~, searches were made in the Dallas Field Office to locate material 

1
iJl~lr on Special Agent Hosty. No main files on Mr. Hosty were located; 

~ ~ however, there was a general personnel matters file C67-425l 
NV 
N,J..,' / containing documents on Mr. Hosty relative to the JFK r ~\\\\ assassination which were processed and, if nonexempt, were 

l ~/\ f \ released to plain tiff .. .JI' iv.t, 

\'{L There is a "67" personnel file in FBIHQ on every FBI VV-
.~\~, employee, including Mr. Hosty. Since the "67" FBIHQ file on '\ 

~JJ r-1, ~.,it,;f' ~tll' Mr. Hosty was clearly not within the scope of the instant FOIA 

requests by plaintiff, it was not processed. At best, that file 

would be within the scope of plaintiff's separate FOIA request for 

FBIHQ documents, the administrative appeal of which is presently 

pending with the Justice Department's Office of Information and 
. **/ Privacy.-

Cl) Whether the FBI searched for records on 

Mrs. Marguerite Oswald. 

The FBI acknowledges that it did not conduct an· independent 

search for records on Mrs. Marguerite Oswald, mother of Lee Harvey 

~t~\~swald. Plaintiff's FOIA request in these cases did not specify 

.. VQI ~~ f::::.,J~ , her as someone on whom he wanted records. Nor did Associate 

Jfr. Attorney General Shenefield direct the FBI, as a matter of agency 

~\~ .:J"\\j:> discretion, to conduct a search for material pertaining to Mrs. 
' . ,l,>J\' 

l~,.JJ,;i \ l' ~' ,,, Oswald. 

*/ See Second Declaration of John N. Phillips, 1 4, attached to 
Defendant's· Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to Motion Concerning 
the Adjudication of Certain Exemption Claims, filed on March 22, 
1982; and Third Declaration of John N. Phillips, 1 3Ccl, attached 
to Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's· Settlement Proposals, filed 
on April 15, 1982. 

**/ Nothing in plaintiff's submissions contradict these facts. 
Instead, even plaintiff admits that the "Hosty records" he 
presently desires are contained in the FBIHQ files. 
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Cm) Whether the FBI has searched SAC confidential files 

and safes. 

'y\~ The FBI is unsure what plaintiff is referring to when he 

, Ji~ talks about SAC (i.e., Special Agent in Charge) confidential t~ 'f."'y., files. /lain tiff may be referring to materials on highly 

,j'tJ~~s~v~vestigations and personnel matters which are 

~\A, maintained in the offices of the SACs. Those materials are kept 

JJ~ in safes for security purposes. 

~'Cf" { In the instant cases, the FBI did undertake a search of the 

If~~ SAC safes in both the Dallas and New Orleans Field Offices. Any 

~"VIJl;.i\$.- records that were located therein which pertained to the JFK 
·~~\i .... . \!1J/ assassination or which were responsive to the Associate Attorney 

\~' \ General decision of December 16, 1980, were processed and, if 
\;fy 

~~\~~ 
~"1 

nonexempt, were provided to plaintiff. 

Cnl Whether all records identified on "see" references 

have been provided. 
*/ 

As I have stated before in these cases,- all releasable 

information pertinent to plaintiff's FOIA request has been 

provided to him. This includes records identified by way of "see" 

references. Furthermore, as I stated in paragraphs 21 and 24 of 

my fourth declaration, plaintiff was provided -- by agreement 

of the FBI -- with copies of all the indices search slips prepared 

by the Dallas and New Orleans Field Offices. Plaintiff thus has 

the capability for determining what files (including those 

identified by way of "see" references) were searched and processed 

by the FBI in these cases. ~J0 
rl., v ~'\.I,,\~ .,......,..--,=------=-:-;,,..,...,.. v ~~· */ See,~, Fifth Declaration of John N. Phillips, 1 3, 
~ Ji attached to Defendant's Reply to Plaintiff's Opposition to the 
~ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, filed on July 2, 1982. 
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3. In conclusion, I would like to note that the FBI's search 

in these cases was exhaustive. The agency not only undertook a 

systematic approach to locating records directly responsive to 

plaintiff's FOIA request, it also conducted, pursuant to the 

discretion exercised by former Associate Attorney General John 

Shenefield, a search for records on subjects which were, at best, 

remotely related to plaintiff's requests. As a result of the FBI 

multi-tiered search in these cases, nearly 12,000 documents and 

53,000 index cards, together consisting of over 100,000 pages, 

were processed and the releasable information furnished to 

plaintiff. 

I have read the foregoing statement consisting of 10 pages 

and fully understand its contents. In accordance with 28 u.s.c. 

§ 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is 

true and correct. 

Dated this 2 O day of A~gust, 1982. 
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J PHILLIPS 
S Agent 
Federal Bureau of Investigation 
Washington, D.C. 

< .-•• ~::-,.·-~,-------;-.--~~, 



Notice: Thia opinion la 1111bjeet to formal revlaion before publleat!Jn. · 
In the Federal Reporter or U.S.App.D.C. Reporta. Uaera are requested 
to notify the Clerk of an:r formal errors In order that correctlcma ma:r be 
mede before the bound TOlmnes go to preas. 

FOB TBl!l DISTIUcr OF COLUKBI.A. cmCUIT 

No. 81-1330 

CHARLES E. PERRY, APPELLANT 

v. 
JORN R. BLOCK, Secretary of Agriculture, ri al. 

Appeal from the United States District Court 
for the District of Columbia 

(D.C. Civil Action No. 80-1487) 

Argued April 19, 1982 

Decided July 30, 1982 

Sa:ra.h M. Vogel for appellant. 

John H. E. Ba.yly, Jr., Assistant United States Attor­
ney, with whom Sta.nley S. Ha.rris, United States Attor­
ney, and Royce C. La.mberth, Ken,neth, M. Raisler, and 
Micha.el J. Rya.n, Assistant United States Attorneys, were 
on the brief, for appellees. Charles F. C. Ruff, United 
States Attorney at the time the case was filed, also en­
tered an appearance for appellees. 

Bills of costa must be flled within 1, days nfter entr:r of judgment. The 
court loolca with diafaYO? U}IOl1 motions to flle billa of coeta out of time. 

Wf£3 

.... •~,~, -. .;;~~:,-., .. ,:· . .:: .. :·.,·._.:. 



·1ii· 
•,."; 

2 ...... 
Before TAMM and GINSBURG, Ci1'C'1£it Jwl.ges, and ED­

MUND L. PA.LMIERI, • United Sta.tea SeniM' District Jwl.ge 
for the Southern District of New York. 

Opinion PER CURIAM. 

PER CURIAM: This case comes to us on appeal of a 
district court decision that the federal appellees had, 
after some delay, released all documents responsive to ap­
pellant's Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) and Pri­
vacy Act requests for production. Appellant Charles E. 
Perry challenges Judge John Lewis Smith's summary dis­
position of the litigation in appellees' favor, arguing both 
that nonexempt, requested material remains undisclosed 
and that an action for damage lies under the Privacy 
Act as a result of the government's delayed and fitful 
responses to his document demands. Although it is mani­
fest from the record that the government has been less 
than forthcoming in its dealings with Mr. Perry, we 
affirm the district court's rulings. The Privacy Act does 
not provide a claim for damages in the circumstances 
presented here, and the affidavits submitted by the govern­
ment persuade us that all documents held by appellees 
and requested by Mr. Perry have now been released. 

L 

Appellant Perry is a North Dakota farmer who re­
ceived from the Farmers Home Administration (FmHA) 
loans totaling roughly $160,000 between 1976 and 1978. 
Deficiencies in appellant's repayment practices in 1978 
prompted the government in the following year to ini­
tiate a foreclosure action against the collateral Perry 
pledged with the FmHA. Appellant has contested the 
foreclosure proceedings and has made allegations of gov­
emment wrongdoing in connection with the loans he re-

• Sitting by designation pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 294(d) 
(1976). 
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ceived.1 Indeed, even before the government filed the fore­
closure action in North Dakota, Perry made in March of 
1979 his initial request for the document he was subse­
quently to pursue for nearly two years. A little back­
ground will provide some flavor to this regrettable saga 
of carelessness and delay. 

On March 15, 1979, Perry wrote to the National Di­
rector of the FmHA requesting ( 1) a complete copy of 
the working file assembled by FmHA officials and used by 
them to monitor the loans made him and (2) a copy of 
the investigative reports compiled in connection with 
those loans." The FmHA claims, however, that it did not 
receive this letter until a copy of it was included with 
further correspondence sent by appellant to the Secre­
tary of Agriculture on July 10, 1979.• On this July date, 
Perry wrote the Secretary and requested that the govern­
ment provide the information sought in the earlier letter, 
a copy of which was appended.' The Secretary responded 
on July 30, 1979, acknowledging Perry's July 10 letter and 
stating that a forml!J response to the document request 
was in preparation.a By letter dated August 21, 1979, 
the Secretary apparently notified Perry that the records 

1 Although appellant Perry's farm bas now been sold pur­
suant to the foreclosure action, there remain pending against 
the government several counterclaims filed by Perry alleging 
misconduct by federal officials. Perry contends, for example, 
that the interest rate charged was usurious &nd that the 
government unlawfully accelerated the payment of the loans. 
See Brief for Appellant at xx-xxi. In a. separate action Perry 
bas also challenged the Farmers Home Administration 
(FmHA) foreclosure practices on constitutional grounds. Id. 
at xxi. · 

" Brief for Appellant at iiL 

• Brief for Appellees at 2; Letter of April 22, 1980, from 
James E. Bryan, Jr., Freedom of Information Officer, FmHA. 
to A. James Barnes, Esq., Appendix (App.) at 20. 

' Brief for Appellant at iii-iv. 
1 Id. at iv. 
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requested were in the poasession of the United States At­
torney for North Dakota and that inquiries should be 
directed to that official's office;• appellant denies, how­
ever, ever receiving this letter.' 

This saga of allegedly erossed and lost correspondence 
involved as well a problem of roving files. The chief 
Fm.HA collection of files relating to and sought by ap­
pellant was held between January and May of 1979 by 
the Denver branch of the Office of General Counsel, De­
partment of Agriculture. After mid-May of that year, 
these files were held by the United States Attorney in 
North Dakota, where they remained until after Perry 
filed the instant action. 

In April of 1980, counsel for appellant again wrote the 
Secretary of Agriculture, demanding production under 
the FOIA and the Privacy Act of the information sought 
in the initial letter of March 1979. 1 The FmHA's FOIA 
Officer responded by advising appellant that the informa­
tion he sought was held by the North Dakota United 
States Attorney and suggesting that Perry contact the 
office of the federal prosecutor· there.• On May 9, 1980, 
counsel for appellant lodged with the Executive Office for 
United States Attorneys a formal request for the docu­
ments based on the FOIA and the Privacy Act.H In early 

• See Letter of August 21, 1979, from Bob Bergland; United 
States Secretary of Agriculture, to Charles E. Perry, App. 
at 21, 

'Brief for Appellant at iv. 
• Letter of April 8, 1980, from A. lames Barnes, Esq., to 

Bob Bergland, United States Secretary of Agriculture, App. 
at 18-19. 

1 Letter of April 22, 1980, from James E. Bryan, "Jr., Free­
dom of Information Officer, FmHA, to A. lames Barnes, Esq., 
App. at 20. 

10 Letter of May 9, 1980, from A. James Barnes, Esq., to 
Director, Executive Office for United States Attorneys, United 
States Department of Justice, App. at 22-24. 
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July, the Acting Director of that office denied the request, 
citing the law enforcement investigatory files exemption 
to the FOi.A, 5 U.S.C. § 552(b) (7) (A) (1976).u Al­
though not necessary in light al the Justice Department 
delays, Perry subsequently exhausted available adminis­
trative remedies in seeking the documents. 

On June 16, 1980, Perry filed the instant action seeking 
production of the requested agency records and damages 
for the wrongful withholding of the information. The De­
partment of Agriculture and the FmHA responded in 
late July with a motion to dismiss or for summary judg­
ment on the ground that the documents in question were 
in the possession and control of the North Dakota United 
States Attorney. In their affidavits supporting the mo­
tion, the federal defendants suggested to the court that 
the requested materials could be examined by appellant 
in Bismarck, North Dakota, during normal working 
hours; this sanguine suggestion was, however, inconsistent 
with the Justice Department letter al July 2, 1980, claim­
ing the protection of the investigatory files exemption for 
the very same material.12 

Appellant's difticqlties in obtaining the requested ma­
terial continued. 111 . a statement filed in the district 
court on September' 16, 1980, the federal defendants ar­
gued that the relief sought by Mr. Perry had "long [ago] 
been accorded him," u apparently because a private in­
vestigator in the employ of Perry's counsel had viewed 

11 Letter of 2 July 1980 from William P. Tyson, Acting 
Director, Executive Office for United States Attorneys, United 
States Depa.rtment of Justice, to A, James Barnes, Esq., 
App. at 25. 

12 See SUPffl note 11 and accompanying text. 

11 Repl1 to Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendants' Motion to 
Dismiss or, Alternatively, for Summaey Judgment. Perry v. 
Bergland, No. 80-1487 (D.D.C. Jan. 22, 1981), App. at 28. 
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the requested materials.14 In mid-October, however, the 
Department of Justice finally released over 400 pages of 
documents for inspection and copying by appellant. ll 

On December 10, 1980, the district court held a hearing 
on the government motion, at which representatives of the 
involved agencies argued that the litigation was moot in 
light of the October record release. Appellant submitted 
an affidavit alleging that a number of relevant, non­
exempt documents had been improperly withheld by ap­
pellees. Although expressing skepticism at Perry's allega­
tions, the district judge ordered appellees to undertake a 
further search for the "missing'' documents. The search 
proved fruitful for Perry as an additional 160 pages of 
mat.erials were released on January 9, 1981; H appellees, 
acknowledging a "mistake," claimed unawareness of the 
additional mat.erial.11 On January 12, 1981, still more 
documents were released; investigatory papers prepared 
by agents of the Department of Agriculture's Office of 
Inspector General and relating to Perry's federal indebt­
edness were then disclosed. 

14 It appears that Mr, Perry's North Dakota counsel and a 
private investigator e~ployed by that counsel did examine 
the files in question dunng 1980. See Brief for Appellees at 
7; Brief for Appellant at xi. It is beyond peradventure, how­
ever, that a mere opportunity to inspect does not meet the 
disclosure responsibility imposed by the FOIA. 

16 Brief for Appellees at 7; Brief for Appellant at xii. 

H See Brief for Appellees at 8. This additional material 
encompassed the North Dakota State FmBA file on Mr. 
Perry's account. · 

n See Brief for Appellees at 8. Appellees submit that the 
North Dakota State Office of the FmHA forwarded a dupli­
cate copy of appellant's State file to the Washington FmBA 
office "without informing the National Office." Id. Thia "mis­
take," appellees contend, led to the belated disclosure of the 
nonexempt material. Id.; 111e Affidavit of Robert L. Nelson, 
Acting Freedom of Information Act Officer, FmHA, Perry v. 
Bergland, No. 80-1487 (D.D.C • .Tan. 22, 1981) at 2, App. at 50. 
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The district judge conducted a second hearing on Janu­
ary 15, 1981. Appellees once again asserted that the De­
partment of Agriculture possessed no other disclosahle 
document.a relating to appellant's request.. Six days later, 
however, still more records were released.:11 Convinced 
that the federal defendants had at long last surrendered 
all of the requested documents, the district judge on Janu­
ary 22, 1981, granted the government's motion to dismiss 
or, in the alternative, for summary judgment. The trial 
judge also directed Perry's counsel to submit a request 
for reasonable attorneys' fees and costs. This appeal 
ensued. 

IL 

Appellant posits a variety of challenges to the govern­
ment actions in this case, only two of which merit dis­
cussion here. We would simply note at this juncture that, 
however fitful or delayed the release of information under 
the FOIA may be, once all requested records are sur­
rendered, federal courts have no further statutory func­
tion to perform. Although "[t]here may very well be 
circumstances in which prolonged delay in making in­
formation available or unacceptably onerous opportuni­
ties for viewing disclosed information require judicial in­
tervention," Lyba.rge?" v. Ca.rdwell, 677 F.2d 764, 767 (1st 
Cir. 1978), the case at bar does not mandate such court 
action. Under 6 U.S.C. § 552(a) (4) (B), a federal court 
is authorized only to "enjoin the agency from withhold­
ing agency records and to order the production of any 
agency records improperly withheld ••.• " Thus, "[o]nce 
the records are produced the substance of the controversy 
disappears and becomes moot since the disclosure which 
the suit seeks has already been made." Crooker v. United 
Sta.tea Sta.te Depa,rtmen.t, 628 F.2d 9, 10 (D.C. Cir. 1980). 

11 On J'anuary 21, 1981, appellees released to Per17 copies 
of records of meetings conducted by local FmHA officials fn 
North Dakota, at which appellnnt's situation was discussed. 
See Brief for Appelleea at 10: Brief for Appellant at xviii-xix. 
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We are not authorized to make advisory findings of legal 
significance on the character of the agency conduct vis-a­
vis any requester of information. In sum, if we are con­
vinced that appellees have, however belatedly, released all 
nonexempt material, we. have no further judicial func­
tion to perform under the FOIA.11 

_ We turn now to the two arguments proffered by ap­
pellant that warrant limited discussion. First. arguing 
that relevant, nonexempt documents remain undisclosed, 
appellant contends · that the affidavits submitted by ap­
pellees were insufficient to establish that the government 
search had been thorough and that all records had been 
released. Second, appellant contends that we should re­
mand the case to the district court for a trial on his 
claim for damages under the Privacy Act. 

A. The Adeqwu:y of the Affidavits 

Since the district judge considered matters outside the 
pleadings in disposing of the litigation, we properly treat 
this case as one in which a motion for summary judgment 
was granted. George C. Frey Reo,T:u-M=ed Concrete, 
In.:. v. PiM Hill Con.:rete M= Corp., 554 F.2d 551, 554 

1•We note that 5 U.S.C. § 552(a) (4) (F) (Supp. m 1979) 
directs the Merit Systems Protection Board's Special Coun­
sel to initiate an investigation to determine whether dis­
ciplinary action is warranted in response to the improper 
withholding of nonexempt records under the FOIA by an 
agency officer or employee. Such an investigation is directed, 
however, only when the court in question (1) orders the pro­
duction of the withheld records and (2) issues written find­
ings suggesting that the "circumstances surrounding the 
withholding raise questions whether agency personnel acted 
arbitrarily or capriciously .••. " 5 U.S.C. § 552(a) (4) (F) 
(Supp. III 1979). While this process is arguably advisory 
in nature, the statutory language makes it clear that it is to 
be employed only when "the court orders the production of 
any agency records improperly withheld , , •• " Su Lovell v. 
Alderete, 6SO F .2d 428, 481 (5th Cir. 1980) ; Emery v. Laiie, 
421 F. Supp. 91, 92 (D.D.C. 1976). No such order was, of 
course, issued ill this cue. 

, , .. , '. ' ·.--~~-;:.;-
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(2d Cir. 1977); Gra,y ti. Greyhov1tu:l Lines, Ea.at, 545 F.2d 
169, 174 (D.C. Cir. 1976); 10 C. Wright & A. Miller, 
Federal Practice and Procedure: Civil § 2713 at 391-
92 (1973 &. 1982 Supp.). We test the propriety of. the 
grant of such a motion by the weH-known standards of 
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56. In a FOIA case, as in all others in 
the federal system, "'[s]ummary judgment may be 
granted only if the moving party proves that no su~ 
stantial and material facts are in dispute and that 
[movant] is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.' " 
Founding Church of Sci,en,tology 11. Natio'llal Security 
Agency, 610 F.2d 824, 836 (D.C. Cir. 1979) (quoting 
NatimuJl Cable Televiri&n Anociation, Inc. 11. FCC, 479 
F.2d 183, 186 (D.C. Cir. 1973)). 

To meet this exacting standard in a FOIA suit, the 
"defending agency must prove that each doc:ument that 
falls within the class requested either has been produced, 
is unidentifiable, or is wholly exempt from the [FOIA's] 
inspection requirements.'' Na.timtal Ca.ble Teletlisum, 479 
F.2d at 186. The peculiarities inherent in FOIA litiga­
tion, with the responding agencies often in sole possession 
of requested records and with information searches con­
ducted only by agency personnel, have led federal courts 
to rely on government affidavits to determine whether the 
statutory obligations of. the FOIA have been met. Accord­
ingly, "in adjudicating the adequacy of the agency's_ iden­
tification and retrieval efforts, the trial court may be 
warranted in relying upon agency affidavits, for these 
'are equally trustworthy when they aver that all docu­
ments have been produced or are unidentifiable as when 
they aver that identified documents are exempt..' " Four,d,. 
ing Ch-urch of Scien.u>logy, 610 F.2d at 836 (quoting 
Gola.nd 11. CIA, 607 F.2d 339, 852 (D.C. Cir. 1978), 
cert. den.ied, 445 U.S. 927 (1980) ). 

Reliance on affidavits to demonstrate agency compliance 
with the mandate of the FOIA does not, however, require 
courts to accept glib government assertions of complete 

.... ,: .. 
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disclosure or retrieval. Rather, to ground a grant of 
summary judgment on the basis of agency protestations 
of compliance, the supporting affidavits "must be 'rela­
tively detailed' and nonconclusory and must be submitted 
in good faith." Gola7ul, 607 F .2d at 352 (footnot:e 
omitted) (quoting Vaughn 11. Rosen., 484 F.2d 820, 
826 (D.C. Cir. 1973), cm. denied, 415 U.S. 977 (1974) ). 
Finally, as appellant argues, ''if the sufficiency of the 
agency's identification or retrieval procedure is genuinely 
in issue, summary judgment .is not in order." F<JUnding 
Church of Scientology, 610 F.2d at 836 (footnote omit­
ted). Perry submits that the adequacy of the federal re­
trieval process is genuinely at issue in this case. Specifi­
cally, appellant challenges the adequacy of the searches 
carried out by agency officia.ls in response to bis FOIA 
requests and the sufficiency of the descriptions of those 
searches. 

Although the offhand treatment appellees accorded 
Perry was by any measure unfortunate, we agree with 
the district court that summary judgment in the govern­
ment's favor was appropriate. Appellees submitted for 
the consideration of the trial judge three affidavits of 
federal officials describing the searches for records that 
transpired, albeit belatedly, in response to Perry's re­
quests. In Weisberg v. Depa:rtment of J'U8tice, 627 F.2d 
365, 371 (D.C. Cir. 1980), and in F<JUnding Chureh of 
Scientology, 610 F.2d at 836-37, we stated that affidavits 
setting forth the record procurement effort.a of an. agency 
should provide some detailing of the scope of the examina­
tion conducted. We do not believe, however, that the 
district judge's ruling in the case at bar violated either 
the spirit or the letter of the Weisberg and F<JUnding 
Church of Scientology decisions. 

Appellant's challenge to the adequacy of the govern­
ment affidavits is, we believe, based on a misreading of 
these FOIA precedents. Neither Weisberg nor F<JUnding 
Chu1-ch of Scientology demands in every FOIA case that 
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the atlidavits of the responding agency set forth with 
meticulous documentation the details of an epic search for 
the requested records. Rather, in the absence of counter­
vailing evidence or apparent inconsistency of proof, afll­
davits that explain in reasonable detail the scope and 
method of the search conducted by the agency will suffice 
to demonstrate compliance with the obligations imposed 
by the FOIA. In ·considering a challenge to an agency'a 
retrieval procedures, a reviewing court must thus deter­
mine whether the materials submitted by the agency satis­
factorily demonstrate the apparent adequacy of the search 
conducted. Where the agency's responses raise serious 
doubts as to the completeness of the search or are for 
some other reason unsatisfactory, summary judgment in 
the government's favor would usually be inappropriate. 
See E:oo Corp. v. FTC, 466 F. Supp. 1088, 1094 (D.D.C. 
1978), aff'd., 663 F.2d 120 (D.C. Cir. 1980). 

Scrutiny of the agency affidavits submitted in the in­
stant case convinces us that appellees' search for the 
requested records, though belated, was reasonably com­
plete and thorough. Two of the three government afllants 
identified with reasonable specificity the system of records 
searched and ~he geographic location of those files,IO The 

:ao Afflant Robert L. Nelson, the Acting Freedom of Infor­
mation Act Officer at the FmHA, stated that he had partici­
pated in and assisted in the supervision of the search for 
records pertaining to Mr. Perry and that "all levels of FmllA, 
including the County, State, and National levels," had been 
searched. Affidavit of Robert L. Nelson, Acting Freedom of 
Information Act Officer, Farmers Home Administration, 
Perry v. Bergland, No. 80-1487 (D.D.C. Jan. 22, 1981) at 2, 
App. at 50. Afliant Earl W. Judy, an agent with the Agri­
culture Department's Office of Inspector General (OIG), 
stated that he personally had searched OIG's Washington 
files for information relating to appellant's request and that 
he had directed that a comparable search be made of OIG's 
Kansas City office. Affidavit of Earl W. Judy, Special Agent, 
Office of Inspector General, United States Department of 
Agriculture, Perry v. Bergland, No. 80-1487 (D.D.C. Jan. 
22, 1981) at 1-2, App. at 64-55. 

·- .. - ... - ...... ------·· ....... ------· -
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third affiant, it is true, simply concluded that no records 
relating to appellant remained undisclosed; his position 
as North Dakota Director of the FmHA, however, lends 
credence to the conclusion that he was referring solely t.o 
the files held at his North Dakota office and that the 
search he supervised encompassed only those files. 21 To be 
sure, the descriptions of the searches could have been 
more detailed, and we urge agency afflanta and counsel 
to provide as much specificity as possible to facilitate in• 
telligent assessment of the BUbmitted information. The 
arguable inadequacy of the search deecriptions here ia, 
however, no more than marginal and does not render the 
grant of summary judgment inappropriate. 

We would note, moreover, that we do not view the 
above summary. of governing principles as at all incon­
aiatent with our rulings in either W eiaberg or F<Yt11ndin,g 
Church of ScieMology. Both of those cases involved rather 
special facts that tended to cast considerable doubt on the 
adequacy of the respective agencies' searches; the exist­
ence of this doubt in each case rendered amnmary dis­
position inappropriate. In Weisberg, the agency's own 
assertions supported (an inference that apecifically iden­
tified material, solicited by the requester, might have re­
mained in the agency's possession. 627 F.2d at 368-70. 
The appellant in Weisberg also adduced specific evidence 
tending to show that .the search conducted for the records 
had been inadequate. Id. at 368-69. Similarly, in Fwnd­
ing Church of Sci.entowgy there were "well-defined re­
quests and positive indications of overlooked materials," 

t1 Afflant Frederick S. Gengler, the North Dakota State 
Director of the FmHA, simply stated that, as a result of the 
transfer of all FmHA documents to those prosecuting the 
foreclosure action, his office no longer held any nondiaclosed 
records relating to Mr. Perry. Affidavit of Frederick S. 
Gengler, State Director for North Dakota, Farmers Home 
Administration, United States Department of Agriculture, 
Perry v. Bergland, No. 80-1487 (D.D.C. Jan. 22, 1981) at 
1-2, App. at 52-58. 

.. 
.... ~. 
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610 F.2d at 837, leading the court to conclude that "sub­
stantial ·doubts [existed] about the caliber of NSA's 
search endeavors." Id. at 834.. Based on the conflicting 
evidence and nebulous records in WNberg and Fov:nding 
Church, of Scien,tol,ogy, the court in each case ruled that a 
aingle, conclusory affidavit failed to negate any inference 
that requested information was irretrievable through the 
employment of reasonable search procedures. 

Turning again to the case at bar, appellant's challenge 
of the district court's disposition of the retrieval ques­
tion is based primarily on the cumulative effect of three 
alleged deficiencies in the government's behavior: appel­
lant contends that the combined impact of (1) the vague 
descriptions of the searches conducted, (2) appellees' fit­
ful responses to Perry's document requests, and (3) the 
fact that a belated release of materials rendered two of 
the government's affidavits "in error," 11 requires a re­
mand for reconsideration of the adequacy of the govern­
ment's search efforts. Neither the individual nor the 
cumulative effect of these alleged shortcomings requires 
reversal of the district court's decision, however. 

We have noted above that the affidavits submitted by 
the government in this case, though perhaps somewhat 
summary, set forth with sufficient detail a reasonably· 
thorough search for the requested information. See 1ru:pra. 
pp. 11-13. With regard to t1ie second argument, it is clear 
that appellees' delayed reaction to appellant's document 
demands "evidences a lack of vigor, if not candor, in 
responding to [Perry's] FOIA requests." GoT.a.nd, 607 

22 Brief for Appellant at '1. On January 21, 1981, appellees 
released copies of county FmHA records responsive to appel­
lant's FOIA request. See 8UP1'lJ note 18. This belated releue 
contradicted earlier representations made by afflant Robert L 
Nelson, see ,uprcz note 20, and by afflant Frederick S. Gengler, 
see ,uprcz note 21, to the effect that no additional materials 
responsive to appellant's request remained in appellees' 
possession. 

-·--··----... ----·-- . -...--------·- -·-· 
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t.2d 367, 370 (D.C. Cir. 1979) (opbrlon on rehearing). 
In the final analysis, however, appellant offers only the 
unsupported allegation that appellant's cumulative search 
efforts were insufficient as a matter of law to ground a rul­
ing of summary judgment in the government's favor. 
Perey has presented no specific argument or evidence sug­
gesting that solicited but undisclosed information §) 
in agency files. The issue is ,wt whether any further 
documents might conceivably exist but rather whether flie 
government's search for responsive documents was ade­
quate. See id. at 369·. Gtven the d"elirqi of ·evidenctj>re­
sented by appellant suggesting the inadequacy of the re­
trieval process, we are unable to say that the district 
judge was incorrect in relying on the agency affidavits 
in question, even given the delays in document provision. 

Perhaps most troublesome in gauging the. adequacy of 
the agency's search is the fact that additional documents · 
were found imd released after affidavits were executed by 
federal officials stating that no further records responsive 
to appellant's request remained in agency control.11 As 
we have had occasion to note before, "the discovery of 
additional documents is more probative that the search 
was not thorough than if no other documents were found 
to exist." Id. at 370. After considering all of the sur­
rounding circumstances, however, we are convinced that 
the district judge's disposition of the case was proper. 
Over 600 pages of materials were released to appellant 
over the course of four months in late 1980 and early 
1981; only ten pages of records were released a.fm the 
execution of the affidavits alleged by appellant to be false, 
and the circumstances surrounding this delay indicate 
neither artifice nor subterfuge but rather, at worse, ad­
ministrative inefficiency. See Brief for Appellant at 7-8; 
Brief for Appellees at 14 n.8.2

' While we again recognize 

• See ,upr11 note 22. 

" Appellees suggest that· the release, after the execution 
of the Nelson and Gengler affidavits, of the county FmBA 

,. 
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both the fitful nature of the government's release of rec­
ords in this case and the probative impact of the discov­
ery of additional documents, we find no error in the entry 
of summary judgment in appellees' favor. · 

In sum, after considerable study of the record, we are 
not convinced that sufficient "positive indications of over­
looked materials" exist to warrant a remand of the ease 
for a reconsideration of the substantive adequacy of the 
thoroughness of the search. F01Lnding Church of Sciffl­
towgy, 610 F .2d at 837; aee generally Golahul, 607. F .2d 
at 367-72 (opinion on rehearing). Nor do we believe 
that the alleged deficiencies in the affidavit descriptions 
of that search require such a remand. 

B. The Cltiim /<Yr DMMgea Baaed. on the Pri:1,a.ey Act 

Appellant claimed in the district court a right to "ac:­
tual damages suffered as a result of the government's will­
ful or intentional failure" to comply with the Privacy 
Act.• Although the contours of bis claim are a bit difli. 
cult to discern, appellant apparently contends that the 
release by the agency appellees of inaccurate informa­
tion regarding him, as well as the delayed surrender of 
that information, constituted violations of the Privacy 
Act giving rise · to a claim for damages. As appellant 
notes, 5 U.S.C. §§ 552a(g) (1) (C) and (D) (1976) pro­
vide an individual with a cause of action against an 
agency that, inter alia, maintains inaccurate or incom­
plete records, the subsequent dissemination of which af. 
fects the individual adversely. But the United States is 

records "in no wise compromises the integrity or extent" of 
the document search, 88 these county records were ''utterly 
non-responsive" to appellant's information request and were 
released "simply 88 a matter of courtesy." Brief for Appellees 
at 14 n.8. Even accepting appellant's charac:terization of 
these records, however, we see no need to upset the trfa1 
court's decision. 

• See Brief for Appellant at 12-18. 
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liable for damages for violations of BUbsections (C) and 
(D) only when the agency "acted in a manner which 
was intentional or willful •••• " 5 U.S.C. § 552a(g) (4) 
(1976). See, e.g., Pa.rks 11. IRS, 618 F.2d 677, 683 (10th 
Cir. 1980) ; Zeller 11. U'l&ited Sta.tea, 467 F. Supp. 487, 503 
(E.D.N.Y.1979). 

Appellant's Privacy Act claim must fail. As appellees 
note, no evidence submitted by Perry suggests that the 
actions of the government in this case, however disjointed 
or confused, were willful or deliberate in the sense de­
manded by the Privacy Act. There is no demonstration 
whatsoever of any alleged inaccuracies in the records 
assembled and disseminated by appellees. Nor does any­
thing in the record demonstrate the existence of any 
"adverse effect" on appellant following. as a result of the 
supposed Privacy Act violations, as required by both sub­
sections (C) and (D) of section 552a(g) (1). Although 
in certain cases a claim for damages. for delayed release 
of covered information might lie under the Privacy Act, 
the record before us reveals only that requested docu­
ments were disclosed in a delayed fashion through ad­
ministrative oversight. The district judge thus properly 
dismissed. appellant's claim for damages under the Pri­
vacy Act. 

III. 
Although we affirm in all respects Judge Smith's reso­

lution of appellant's action, we add this postscript to ex­
press our disapproval of the government's behavior vis-a­
vis Mr. Perry. By counsel's own admission, the Fm.HA 
and the Justice Department acted in a "disjointed," "di­
latory," and ''fitful" fashion in processing appellant's re­
quests for documents that, under the FOIA and Pri­
vacy Act. he had the undisputed right to inspect." The 
laudable alms of the FOIA will pass beyond reach ff fed­
eral agencies can through carelessness and procrastina­
tion frustrate the efforts of private citizens to gain ac-

" Brief for Appellees at 11, 11 • 
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cess t.o government files. .The vigilance with which agen­
cies process information requests should be all the greater 
where, as here, an individual requests information that 
bears on his relations with the given agency. We regret 
the necessity for the long pursuit by Perry and bis coun­
sel of the documents at issue in this litigation, and we 
admonish the appellee agencies that a delay of two years 
in the release of information t.o which the requester has 
a right of access is simply unacceptable as a matter of 
law, policy, and equity.rr 

Affi:rmed •• 

rr The district judge invited counsel for appellant to submit 
a request for reasonable attorneys' fees and costs In connec­
tion with the release of the records relating to Mr. Perry. 
At oral argument counsel for appellant stated that no such 
fees or costs had ;yet been awarded. It would now be appro­
priate for appellant's counsel to renew the matter before 
the district court. 

................ ____ .. -· -
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served the foregoing Defendant's Reply To Plaintiff's Opposition 

To Defendant's Motion To Strike And To Have Its Statement Of 

Material Facts Deemed Admitted, by first class mail to: 

James H. Lesar, Esq. 
suite 900 
1000 Wilson Boulevard 
Arlington, Virginia 22209 
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